



XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE XLVI REGIONAL COMMITTEE MEETING

WASHINGTON, D.C. SEPTEMBER 1994

CSP24/FR (Eng.) 30 September 1994 **ORIGINAL: ENGLISH-SPANISH**

FINAL REPORT

CONTENTS

																Po	ige
Opening of the	Meeting .				· • •				•	 			 	•		•	. 5
Participants									•	 		•	 			•	. 5
Inaugural Session	on									 			 	•			. 6
Officers										 			 				. 6
Committee on (Credentials									 		•	 	•			. 7
General Commi	ttee									 			 				. 7
Agenda										 			 				. 8
Working Partie	s					. 		•		 			 				. 8
Decisions					,					 			 				. 8
Other Matters .					• •	<i>.</i>				 							. 9
Reports Awards Other Topics										 							10
Sessions	· • • • • •						• •			 	•				•		11
Resolutions																	
CSP24.R1	Collection	n of Qı	10ta (Con	tribu	ıtio	ns .			 	•						11
CSP24.R2	Financial Auditor f	-							_								12
CSP24.R3	Strategic American	Healt															12

CONTENTS (cont.)

		Pa	ige					
Resolutions (cont.)								
	CSP24.R4	Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Pan American Health Organization, 1995-1998	14					
	CSP24.R5	Election of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau and Nomination of the Regional Director to the World Health Organization for the Americas	16					
	CSP24.R6	Director Emeritus of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau	16					
	CSP24.R7	Election of Three Member Governments to the Executive Committee on the Termination of the Periods of Office of Honduras, Peru, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	17					
	CSP24.R8	Proposal for Convening the Pan American Conference on Health and the Environment in Sustainable Development	18					
	CSP24.R9	International Basic Safety Standards for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources	19					
	CSP24.R10	Modifications to the Procedures and Guidelines for Conferring the PAHO Award for Administration	20					
	CSP24.R11	Annual Report, 1993, and Quadrennial Report, 1990-1993, of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau	21					
	CSP24.R12	Provisional Draft of the Program Budget Proposal of the World Health Organization for the Region of the Americas for the Biennium 1996-1997	22					
	CSP24.R13	Health and Peace for Development and Democracy in Central America	22					
	CSP24.R14	Regional System for Vaccines in Latin America and the Caribbean	23					
	CSP24.R15	Salary of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau	25					

CONTENTS (cont.)

	Page
Resolutions (cont.)	
CSP24.R16 Expanded Progr	ram on Immunization
CSP24.R17 Acquired Immu	nodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) in the Americas 29
the Caribbean (land Changing P	onomic Commission for Latin America and ECLAC) Report on Health, Social Equity, Production Patterns in Latin America and
	Evaluation of the Strategies of Health for All

FINAL REPORT¹

The XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference, XLVI Meeting of the Regional Committee of the World Health Organization for the Americas, was held at the Headquarters of the Organization in Washington, D.C., from 26 to 30 September 1994, as convened by the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau, in accordance with a decision taken by the Executive Committee at its 112th Meeting.

Opening of the Meeting

In the absence of the President and the two Vice Presidents of the XXIII Pan American Sanitary Conference and of the President of the XXXVII Meeting of the Directing Council, the proceedings of the XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference were opened by Dr. Argentino Luis Pico (Argentina), Chairman of the 114th Meeting of the Executive Committee, who was selected as President ad interim in accordance with Article 22 of the Rules of Procedure.

Participants

The following Member Governments, Participating Governments, and Associate Members of the Pan American Health Organization were represented: Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, France, Grenada, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Puerto Rico, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, United Kingdom, United States of America, Uruguay and Venezuela. The governments of Spain and Portugal were each represented as Observers.

The Executive Committee of the Pan American Health Organization was represented by its Chairman, Dr. Argentino Luis Pico (Argentina), and by the Hon. Ruben Campos (Belize), in accordance with Rule 32 of the Rules of Procedure of the Conference and Rule 14 of the Rules of Procedure of the Executive Committee.

The Conference was also attended by Dr. Hiroshi Nakajima, Director General of the World Health Organization, and observers from the following intergovernmental

This Final Report is necessarily synoptic in nature and, therefore, should be read together with the minutes of the Meeting, where the topics are discussed in more detail.

agencies: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Inter-American Development Bank, the World Bank, the Caribbean Community, the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, the Hipólito Unanue Agreement, the United Nations Children's Fund, the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture, the Organization of American States, and the International Labor Organization.

Observers from 32 nongovernmental organizations were also present.

Inaugural Session

The inaugural session of the Conference was held on 26 September 1994 at 9:30 a.m. It was opened by the Chairman of the 114th Meeting of the Executive Committee, Dr. Argentino Luis Pico (Argentina), as President ad interim. The Conference was addressed by Dr. Carlyle Guerra de Macedo, Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau, the Honorable Donna E. Shalala, Secretary of Health and Human Services of the United States of America, and Dr. Hiroshi Nakajima, Director General of the World Health Organization.

Officers

The President, two Vice Presidents, and the Rapporteur were elected pursuant to Rule 18 of the Rules of Procedure of the Conference. The officers of the Conference were as follows:

President: Dr. Jesús Kumate Rodríguez Mexico

Vice Presidents: Ms. Marta Palacio Fernández Nicaragua

Hon. Phinsley St. Louis Grenada

Rapporteur: Dr. Francisco Vallejo Ecuador

Secretary

ex officio: Dr. Carlyle Guerra de Macedo Director, Pan American

Sanitary Bureau

The tenth plenary session was chaired by Ms. Marta Palacio Fernández, in the absence of Dr. Jesús Kumate Rodríguez.

Committee on Credentials

The Committee on Credentials was appointed in accordance with Rule 26 of the Rules of Procedure of the Conference and consisted of the following members:

President:

Dr. Josefina García Coen

Dominican Republic

Vice President:

Hon. John Eckstein

Trinidad and Tobago

Rapporteur:

Dr. Julio C. Jaureguy²

Uruguay

The Committee on Credentials met three times and submitted the respective reports to the first, third, and fifth plenary sessions.

General Committee

With the election of the United States of America, in accordance with Rule 27 of the Rules of Procedure of the Conference, the General Committee was constituted as follows:

President:

Dr. Jesús Kumate Rodríguez

Mexico

Vice Presidents:

Ms. Marta Palacio Fernández

Nicaragua

Hon. Phinsley St. Louis

Grenada

Rapporteur:

Dr. Francisco Vallejo

Ecuador

Delegate:

Dr. Philip R. Lee³

United States of

America

Secretary

ex officio:

Dr. Carlyle Guerra de Macedo

Director, Pan American Sanitary Bureau

The General Committee met twice and submitted the respective reports at the second and sixth plenary sessions.

Dr. Juan Carlos Salsamendi (second meeting) and Dr. Angel Grillo (third meeting), also from the Delegation from Uruguay, substituted Dr. Jaureguy in its capacity as rapporteur of the Comission.

Mr. Neil A. Boyer substituted for Dr. Lee in the second meeting of the General Committee.

Agenda

In accordance with Rule 9 of the Rules of Procedure, the provisional agenda (Document CSP24/1, Rev. 1), prepared by the Director, was approved at the first plenary session.

Working Parties

At the first plenary session a working party was established, consisting of the Delegates of Bahamas, Colombia, and Honduras, to consider the application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution to countries more than two years in arrears in the payment of their quota contributions. The working party presented a report at the fourth plenary session, and at that same session the Conference adopted a proposed resolution on the matter (see Resolution CSP24.R1).

At the eighth plenary session, a working party was formed, consisting of the Delegates of Argentina, Brazil, Honduras, and Panama, to assist the Rapporteur in introducing a series of modifications to the proposed resolution on acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in the Americas.

Decisions

CSP24(D1) Composition of the Policy and Coordination Committee of the WHO Special Program of Research, Development, and Research Training in Human Reproduction

Argentina and Cuba were selected to membership on the Policy and Coordination Committee of the WHO Special Program of Research, Development, and Research Training in Human Reproduction.

(Sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24(D2) Composition of the WHO Action Program on Essential Drugs

Chile was selected to membership on the Management Advisory Committee of the WHO Action Program on Essential Drugs.

(Sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24(D3) Composition of the Joint Coordinating Board of the UNDP/World Bank/WHO Special Program for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR)

Brazil was selected to designate a person to serve on the Joint Coordinating Board of the UNDP/World Bank/WHO Special Program for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR).

(Sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24(D4) Composition of the International Coordination Council of the Pan American Institute for Food Protection and Zoonoses (INPPAZ)

Mexico was selected to designate a representative to the International Coordination Council of the Pan American Institute for Food Protection and Zoonoses (INPPAZ).

(Sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

Other Matters

In addition to the matters reflected in the aforementioned decisions and in the resolutions reproduced herein in their entirety, the following topics were addressed:

Reports

At its first plenary session, the Conference approved the report of the Chairman of the Executive Committee with regard to its 112th, 113th and 114th Meetings.

At the second and third plenary sessions, Delegations presented their respective country reports on public health conditions and the progress achieved in the time elapsed between the XXIII and XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conferences.

At the fourth plenary session, the report of the working party charged with studying the application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution to countries more than two years in arrears in the payment of their quota contributions was approved (see Resolution CSP24.R1).

At the fifth plenary session, the Conference approved the report of the Special Subcommittee of the Executive Committee on Women, Health, and Development with regard to its 14th Meeting.

At the seventh plenary session, the Chairman of the International Commission for the Certification of Poliomyelitis Eradication (ICCPE) submitted to the Conference the report of the Commission, which concludes that, based on the documented evidence submitted by the countries of the Region, the transmission of the wild poliovirus has been interrupted in the Americas.

Awards

At the sixth plenary session, the PAHO Award for Administration, 1994, was conferred on Dr. Zilda Arns Neumann, of Brazil.

At the eighth plenary session, the PAHO Immunization Award was conferred on Mrs. Miriam Strull, of Peru, and Mrs. Clarice Watson, of Guyana.

Also at the eighth plenary session, the Abraham Horwitz Award for Inter-American Health, 1994, was conferred on Mr. Humberto Romero Alvarez, of Mexico.

Other Topics

At the ninth plenary session, President José María Figueres of Costa Rica briefly addressed the Conference.

During the course of the Meeting the following topics were also addressed:

- Resolutions of the Forty-seventh World Health Assembly of interest for the Regional Committee;
- Provisional Agenda of the 95th Session of the Executive Board of WHO. Items of Interest to the Regional Committee;
- Publication of the Tenth International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, in the four official languages of PAHO, programmed for 1996;
- Participation of the health sector at the World Summit for Social Development;
- Inter-American Conference on Society, Violence, and Health.

Sessions

The Conference held 10 plenary sessions.

Resolutions

The Conference adopted the following 19 resolutions.

CSP24.R1 Collection of Quota Contributions

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having considered the report of the Director on the collection of quota contributions (Document CSP24/22 and Add. I) and the comments expressed by the Executive Committee at its 113th Meeting with respect to the status of the collection of quota contributions;

Noting the report of the Working Party on the application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution relating to the suspension of voting privileges of Member Governments that fail to meet their financial obligations to the Organization; and

Recognizing that, in the case of the three Member Governments subject to Article 6.B, Cuba and Bolivia had submitted formal written commitments to amortize their quota arrearages within a fixed number of years, and Haiti was not presently represented at this Conference,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To take note of the report of the Director on the collection of quota contributions (Document CSP24/22 and Add. I).
- 2. To express appreciation to Member Governments that have already made payments in 1994, and to urge all Member Governments in arrears to promptly meet their financial obligations to the Organization.
- 3. To congratulate Guyana for its successful payment efforts in fully meeting its quota obligations through 1994.
- 4. To recognize the efforts of the new Government of Antigua and Barbuda in meeting its financial commitment to the Organization.
- 5. To approve the recommendation of the Working Party that the voting privileges of any Member Government subject to the application of Article 6.B be suspended until an acceptable plan of payment has been submitted to the Secretariat and to note that Cuba and Bolivia had now complied with this deferred payment requirement.

- 6. To endorse the Working Party's recommendation that all deferred payment plans be considered firm commitments by the countries concerned and not be modified in the future.
- 7. To request the Director:
- (a) To continue to monitor the implementation of special payment agreements made by Member Governments in arrears for the payment of prior years' quota assessments;
- (b) To advise the Executive Committee of Member Governments' compliance with their quota payment commitments;
- (c) To report to the XXXVIII Meeting of the Directing Council on the status of the collection of quota contributions for 1995 and prior years.

(Adopted at the fourth plenary session, 27 September 1994)

CSP24.R2 Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor for 1992-1993

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having studied the Financial Report of the Director and the Report of the External Auditor for 1992-1993 (Official Document 261) on the accounts of the Pan American Health Organization, and taking note of the comments of the 114th Meeting of the Executive Committee on its examination of the Report;

Noting the presentation by the External Auditor on the satisfactory condition of the Organization's accounts and the Organization's continued compliance with the Financial Regulations and legislative authority; and

Expressing satisfaction that the Organization has continued to follow sound financial practices and to maintain a stable fiscal standing,

RESOLVES:

1. To take note of the Financial Report of the Director for 1992-1993.

- 2. To congratulate the External Auditor for the thoroughness of his audit reviews during the past biennium and for presenting a clear and concise report on the condition of the Organization's accounts and accuracy of the financial statements for 1992-1993.
- 3. To express concern about the difficulties being encountered by the Organization in the implementation and operation of its new financial management system, to encourage the Director to solve these systems problems as quickly as possible, and to keep the Executive Committee informed.
- 4. To take note of the actions taken by the Director to transfer funds between parts of the 1992-1993 Effective Working Budget to meet program priorities.
- 5.To express deep concern about the financial situations that currently exist at the Caribbean Epidemiology Center and the Caribbean Food and Nutrition Institute and to request strongly that the Member Governments meet their financial commitments to these Centers as soon as possible.
- 6. To recognize the efforts made by the Institute of Nutrition of Central America and Panama to maintain the Institute in an improved financial condition.
- 7. To commend the Director for having maintained the Organization in a sound financial condition.

(Adopted at the fourth plenary session, 27 September 1994)

CSP24.R3 Strategic Orientations and Program Priorities for the Pan American Health Organization in the Quadrennium 1991-1994

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having seen Document CSP24/12, "Progress Report on the Quadrennial Targets for the Strategic Orientations and Program Priorities (SOPP), 1991-1994";

Bearing in mind Resolution CE107.R3 of the 107th Meeting of the Executive Committee (1991), which recommends that the Director use evaluation schemes to review progress made toward achievement of the quadrennial targets; and

Recognizing the need to monitor the execution and outcomes of actions taken by the Organization in terms of benefit for the population in the countries of the Region,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To reaffirm the importance of the Strategic Orientations and Program Priorities as mechanisms for guiding the work of the Organization, and to encourage the Member States and the Secretariat to draw upon the lessons learned from this exercise and apply them to the SOPP process in the future.
- 2. To request the Member States to provide the Bureau with the information that will enable it to monitor achievement of the quadrennial targets, and to take the necessary measures, as appropriate, to ensure that these goals are fulfilled.
- 3. To ask the Director to coordinate with the countries the establishment of mechanisms that will make it possible to monitor achievement of the quadrennial targets as part of the development of information systems.

(Adopted at the fourth plenary session, 27 September 1994)

CSP24.R4 Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Pan American Health Organization, 1995-1998

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having seen Document CSP24/12 (Part B), "Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Pan American Health Organization, 1995-1998";

Bearing in mind that it is the constitutional function of the Pan American Sanitary Conference to determine the general policies of the Organization; and

Recognizing that the Member States and the Secretariat need to channel their efforts and resources into undertakings that will improve access to health services and help to ensure that the health needs of the population in the Region are effectively met,

RESOLVES:

1. To adopt the "Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Pan American Health Organization, 1995-1998," contained in Document CSP24/12 (Part B), with the observations made, as a basic frame of reference for the planning of the activities of the Organization.

- 2. To request the Member States to bear in mind the Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Organization during 1995-1998 as they formulate their national health policies.
- 3. To request the Director:
- (a) To review and adapt the document in accordance with the observations made by the Delegates to the Conference in order to improve its presentation, and to submit it to the Subcommittee on Planning and Programming at its meeting in December 1994 for its final formal approval;
- (b) To apply the Strategic and Programmatic Orientations to the biennial and annual operating program budgets of the Organization throughout the 1995-1998 quadrennium;
- (c) To disseminate the document "Strategic and Programmatic Orientations for the Pan American Health Organization, 1995-1998" to the Member States and transmit it to the Director-General of WHO for his consideration;
- (d) To transmit the document to multilateral organizations and donor country technical cooperation agencies that participate in health sector activities in the Member States.
- 4. To request the Director, in developing the strategic and programmatic orientations for the coming quadrenniums:
- (a) To link the strategic and programmatic orientations to the basic indicators of *Health Conditions in the Americas*;
- (b) To take into account the capacities and responsibilities of the Pan American Health Organization in defining its program of technical cooperation;
- (c) To assure that the priority areas and lines of action of the strategic and programmatic orientations are reflected in the Organization's program budgets and in the definition of the categories used for programming the Organization's work during the quadrennium.

(Adopted at the fourth plenary session, 27 September 1994)

CSP24.R5 Election of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau and Nomination of the Regional Director of the World Health Organization for the Americas

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Bearing in mind Articles 4.E and 21.A of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization, which provide that the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall have a Director elected at the Conference by the vote of a majority of the Governments of the Organization;

Bearing in mind Article 4 of the Agreement between the World Health Organization and the Pan American Health Organization and Article 52 of the Constitution of the World Health Organization, which establish the procedure for the appointment of Regional Directors of the World Health Organization; and

Satisfied that the election of the Director of the Bureau has been held in accordance with the established procedures,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To declare Sir George Alleyne unanimously elected Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau for a period of four years to begin 1 February 1995.
- 2. To submit to the Executive Board of the World Health Organization the name of Sir George Alleyne for appointment as Regional Director for the Americas.

(Adopted at the fifth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R6 Director Emeritus of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Noting the 25 years of service of Dr. Carlyle Guerra de Macedo of Brazil to the Pan American Health Organization;

Recognizing the extraordinary leadership provided by Dr. Macedo as Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau during the past 12 years; and

Desiring to demonstrate its appreciation for his many years of service to the Organization for the benefit of the people of the Americas,

RESOLVES:

To confer the title of Director Emeritus of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau on Dr. Carlyle Guerra de Macedo.

(Adopted at the fifth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R7 Election of Three Member Governments to the Executive Committee on the Termination of the Periods of Office of Honduras, Peru, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Bearing in mind the provisions of Articles 4.D and 15.A of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization; and

Considering that the Governments of El Salvador, Saint Kitts and Nevis, and the United States of America were elected to serve on the Executive Committee upon the expiration of the periods of office of Honduras, Peru, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To declare the Governments of El Salvador, Saint Kitts and Nevis, and the United States of America elected to membership of the Executive Committee for a period of three years.
- 2. To thank the Governments of Honduras, Peru, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines for the services rendered to the Organization during the past three years by their representatives on the Executive Committee.

(Adopted at the sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R8 Proposal for Convening the Pan American Conference on Health and the Environment in Sustainable Development

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having seen the proposal for convening the Pan American Conference on Health and the Environment in Sustainable Development, to be held in 1995 (Document CSP24/15);

Noting the follow-up actions recommended in Agenda 21 of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED), held in 1992, which considers health as it relates to the environment and development, as well as the recommendation that the countries prepare national plans for sustainable development and that such plans incorporate the components of health in general and environmental health in particular;

Bearing in mind Resolution CD36.R13 of the XXXVI Meeting of the Directing Council (1992), which requested the Director to study the feasibility of convening such a conference; and

Considering that it is urgent that the health sector have a consistent policy at the regional level which recognizes the close relationship that exists between health, the environment, and development and which facilitates the sector's active participation from the outset in the preparation of national plans for sustainable development and in the discussion, follow-up, and execution of UNCED's Agenda 21 at the national and international level,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To urge the Member States:
- (a) To incorporate the components of health and environment in their national plans for sustainable development;
- (b) To continue to strengthen institutional capacity for the management of environmental health at all levels, including the strengthening or establishment of a high-level commission for coordinating activities for the effective implementation of actions in the areas of health and the environment;
- (c) To participate actively in the various preparatory stages of the Pan American Conference on Health and the Environment in Sustainable Development, to be held in 1995, especially in the national phase.

- 2. To request the Director:
- (a) To ensure that the Pan American Conference on Health and the Environment in Sustainable Development will be held on 21-23 August 1995, pursuant to securing the necessary funding and acceptance by the Subcommittee on Planning and Programming of the proposed development plan;
- (b) To carry forward his negotiations with the World Bank and the Inter-American Development Bank to ensure their full cooperation in holding the conference, and also to encourage other regional, bilateral, and nongovernmental organizations concerned with the subject to participate in the Conference and incorporate health and environmental considerations in their development programs;
- (c) To continue his efforts on behalf of the countries, as requested in Resolution CD36.R13 of the XXXVI Meeting of the Directing Council, to see that their needs are met in the area of health and the environment, especially in terms of the mobilization of resources.

(Adopted at the sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R9 International Basic Safety Standards for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having seen Document CSP24/16, "International Basic Safety Standards for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources";

Aware of the increasing use of ionizing radiation in medical applications and its potentially deleterious effects on health;

Emphasizing the importance of international harmonization in the field of radiation safety;

Acknowledging the coordinating role of the Inter-Agency Committee on Radiation Safety (IACRS)—which comprises the Commission of the European Communities, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), the International Labor Organization (ILO), the Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA) of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, and the

World Health Organization (WHO), as well as the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO)—in preparing the aforementioned International Basic Safety Standards in light, inter alia, of the 1991 recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection; and

Recognizing that, within the framework of IACRS, a joint secretariat of FAO, IAEA, ILO, NEA, WHO and PAHO was established to prepare the International Basic Safety Standards,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To endorse the International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources.
- 2. To urge the Member States to draw on the guidance provided by the International Basic Safety Standards when establishing regulations and operational criteria in the field of radiation safety.
- 3. To ask the Director, in accordance with the availability of resources from the Organization, to continue to cooperate with the Member States in the development and implementation of national plans on radiation safety.

(Adopted at the sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R10 Modifications to the Procedures and Guidelines for Conferring the PAHO Award for Administration

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having reviewed Document CSP24/11, containing, among other things, a proposal for modification to the existing procedures and guidelines for conferring the PAHO Award for Administration;

Noting that the last revision of the procedures and guidelines took place in 1980, and that recent experience suggests that they should be updated; and

Considering that the Director has proposed and that the 113th Meeting of the Executive Committee has analyzed revisions to the current procedures and guidelines for conferring the Award,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To adopt the modifications to the procedures and guidelines for conferring the PAHO Award for Administration contained in Document CSP24/11.
- 2. To request the Director to communicate the revised procedures and guidelines to the Member States.

(Adopted at the sixth plenary session, 28 September 1994)

CSP24.R11 Annual Report, 1993, and Quadrennial Report, 1990-1993, of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having examined the Annual Report, 1993, and Quadrennial Report, 1990-1993, of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (Official Document 262) on the activities of PAHO during the period between the XXIII and XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conferences; and

Taking into consideration the stipulations of Article 4.F of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To take note of the Annual Report, 1993, and Quadrennial Report, 1990-1993, of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau.
- 2. To congratulate the Director on his constant effort to transform the Report into a dynamic working tool, in order to make it a faithful reflection of PAHO's work and an instrument for evaluating the execution of the cooperation activities carried out during the respective period.
- 3. To thank the Director for the leadership and support provided to the Member Governments in the activities carried out by PAHO during the period 1990-1993.

(Adopted at the seventh plenary session, 29 September 1994)

CSP24.R12 Provisional Draft of the Program Budget Proposal of the World Health Organization for the Region of the Americas for the Biennium 1996-1997

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having considered Document CSP24/13 and the tentative request to the World Health Organization for US\$ 79,794,000 without cost increases for the Region of the Americas for the biennium 1996-1997; and

Noting the recommendation of the 113th Meeting of the Executive Committee,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To request the Director to transmit to the Director-General of WHO the request for \$79,794,000 without cost increases for the Region of the Americas for the biennium 1996-1997, for consideration by the WHO Executive Board and the World Health Assembly in 1995.
- 2. To recommend to the members of the WHO Executive Board representing the Region of the Americas that they take the observations of the Conference on this matter into consideration in their discussion of the budget.
- 3. To request the Director to prepare an analytical report on the budget and distribute it to the members of the WHO Executive Board representing the Region of the Americas.

(Adopted at the seventh plenary session, 29 September 1994)

CSP24.R13 Health and Peace for Development and Democracy in Central America

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having seen Document CSP24/17, "Health and Peace for Development and Democracy in Central America";

Considering the progress that has been achieved in terms of the quest for harmony and peace in Central America, in which efforts in the field of health have played an important role; and

Having been informed that the X RESSCA approved a third phase (1995-2000) of the Central American Health Initiative (ISCA) having as its principal reference the Central American integration process for sustainable human development,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To support the efforts under way to accelerate development and consolidate democracy in the Central American countries through actions in the field of public health, with special attention to working with the family and communities through coordinated efforts among the organizations of the sector.
- 2. To congratulate the Member Governments of Central America for approving and launching a third phase of the ISCA that will continue the joint efforts toward a common health agenda in order to take maximum advantage of opportunities for improving the living conditions of the population within the framework of the Central American integration process and greater equity, social efficacy, and efficiency in the delivery of health services.
- 3. To request the Director, within the limits of available resources, to continue to support the Central American countries in the social integration process, the formulation and implementation of a subregional health agenda, and the corresponding mobilization of resources.

(Adopted at the ninth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

CSP24.R14 Regional System for Vaccines in Latin America and the Caribbean THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having seen Document CSP24/19 on the Regional System for Vaccines (SIREVA);

Considering that vaccines are fundamental instruments for the implementation of programs to control and eradicate diseases preventable by immunization;

Bearing in mind that research for the technological development of new vaccines is the responsibility of the scientific community and national institutions;

Convinced that the development of new vaccines can stimulate biotechnology as part of the technologic development process;

Considering that only through technical cooperation among countries, based on joint efforts that bring together the technical and scientific experience, capacity, and potential of their institutions through a collaborative program for development within the Regional System for Vaccines, will it be feasible to produce the needed new vaccines and to make those that are already available more safe and efficacious; and

Recognizing the importance of guaranteeing the quality of the vaccines utilized in the Region through the strengthening of the national quality control laboratories for the vaccines and their organization into a Regional Network of Quality Control Laboratories,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To urge the Member States:
- (a) To define and give priority to a policy for the development of a regional system covering the development, production, quality control, and evaluation of vaccines of importance for public health;
- (b) To revise and adjust the targets, strategies, and principal actions relating to epidemiological research on diseases preventable by vaccination; development, production, and quality control; and evaluation of new and improved vaccines;
- (c) To promote policies and legislation that will commit national resources, mobilize investments, and foster technical, scientific, and financial cooperation among the countries of the Region in order to finance the work programmed for SIREVA.
- 2. To authorize the Director to enter into negotiations and agreements with public and private institutions in order to promote the development, production, and marketing of vaccines in the Region in response to expressions of interest by the Member Governments.
- 3. To request the Director:
- (a) To support, within the limits of available resources, the basic activities of coordination and technical and scientific cooperation among the countries in the area of research and in the development, production, and evaluation of vaccines of high priority for the control of diseases preventable by immunization;
- (b) To support, within the limits of available resources, the implementation of the Regional Network of Quality Control Laboratories, in order to guarantee the quality of the vaccines utilized in the Region;

- (c) To assist in implementing research pursuant to the guidelines contained in the master plans formulated and approved by the Expert Committees of SIREVA, or for the development of specific immunizing agents;
- (d) To promote a system for encouraging participation in research on vaccine development by as many official and private institutions as possible in the countries of the Region;
- (e) To provide affiliated laboratories with access to scientific and technical knowledge developed within the Regional System for Vaccines relating to the production of vaccines, as long as the laboratories have facilities and a production infrastructure that meet international requirements, and as long as they assume responsibility for the quality and proper use of the vaccines, pursuant to the guidelines of the Expert Committees of SIREVA;
- (f) To discuss and come to an agreement on the transfer of technology among the participating parties, for which purpose PAHO/WHO will convene representatives of the Member States and the Expert Committees of SIREVA.

(Adopted at the ninth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

CSP24.R15 Salary of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Considering the revision made to the base/floor salary scale for the professional and higher categories of staff in graded posts, effective 1 March 1994;

Taking into account the decision by the Executive Committee at its 113th Meeting to adjust the salaries of the Deputy Director and Assistant Director (Resolution CE113.R20);

Having noted the recommendation of the Executive Committee concerning the salary of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (Resolution CE113.R20); and

Bearing in mind the provisions of Staff Rule 330.3,

RESOLVES:

To establish the annual net salary of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau at US\$ 90,043 (dependency rate) and \$80,922 (single rate), effective 1 March 1994.

(Adopted at the ninth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

CSP24.R16 Expanded Program on Immunization

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having considered the progress report presented by the Director (Document CSP24/14 and Add. I) on implementation of the Expanded Program on Immunization and the Plan of Action for the Eradication of Wild Poliovirus from the Americas;

Noting with great pride that transmission of wild poliovirus appears to have been interrupted in the Region of the Americas, inasmuch as no cases have been reported in the past three years, since the detection of a case in Junín, Peru, on 23 August 1991;

Further noting that national and multinational initiatives to eliminate measles are having a major impact in the incidence of this disease, that at the end of 1993 the Region of the Americas reported the lowest number of cases in its history, and that transmission may have been interrupted in several countries or areas (e.g., Chile, Cuba, and the English-speaking Caribbean countries);

Considering that efforts to eliminate neonatal tetanus have been very successful and that the Region has reached the goal set by the World Summit for Children of less than one case per 1,000 live births at the regional level;

Realizing that immunization coverage levels have continued to increase in most of the countries, reaching a regional level of 80% in the last two years for all the vaccines being administered (DPT, polio, measles, BCG, and TT);

Considering that strategies are being developed for controlling hepatitis B and rubella, and that the possibility of introducing new vaccines—for example, a vaccine against *Haemophilus influenzae b*—in national immunization programs is now being considered by several of the Member States;

Noting that these developments have contributed enormously to the overall strengthening of the health infrastructure in all countries; and

Recognizing that it will be a major challenge in the future to maintain and further increase immunization coverage in order to reach the goal of 95% by the year 2000, and that the introduction of new vaccines will have to be preceded by major shifts in health policies toward more preventive activities,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To congratulate all the Member States, their health authorities, their health workers, and the communities themselves on their continuing commitment and efforts toward attainment of the historical accomplishment represented by the eradication of poliomyelitis from the Western Hemisphere, as well as other major advances in their immunization programs.
- 2. To thank the agencies involved in this effort, particularly the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Rotary International, and the Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA), as well as many other national organizations, for their support, without which it would have been impossible to achieve these goals, and to request that they maintain and increase their contributions to the program in order to ensure that efforts to meet the new challenges are similarly successful.
- 3. To thank the Governments of Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, France, Italy, and Sweden for their support of national efforts to control and eliminate measles.
- 4. To establish the regional goal of elimination of measles by the year 2000 and urge the Member Governments to make every effort to achieve this goal as soon as possible.
- 5. To call on all the Member States to continue to give high priority to this program in order to ensure that the human and financial resources needed for implementing the actions outlined in the progress report, in particular funds for the purchase of vaccines, are made available in their national budgets and are allocated especially to those areas or populations at greatest risk for the target diseases, and in this respect, it is of the utmost importance that:
- (a) National commissions for the certification of poliomyelitis eradication continue to monitor the poliomyelitis surveillance indicators in their own countries until the world is certified polio-free;

- (b) The acute flaccid paralysis surveillance system now in place be expanded to cover illnesses with fever and rash, including laboratory support, as part of the efforts to increase the possibility of the elimination of measles;
- (c) Vaccination of women of child-bearing age in areas identified to be at risk for the disease be accelerated in order to ensure that every child is born to an immune mother and will not be at risk of contracting neonatal tetanus;
- (d) Support be provided for the efforts of the countries and institutions that are attempting to incorporate into their national vaccination program other vaccines, such as the hepatitis B, rubella, mumps, *Haemophilus influenzae b* and meningococcal meningitis, ensuring that the greatest consideration is given to the epidemiological relevance of this incorporation and that its financial implications are analyzed, so that the success obtained with other vaccines and with measures applied to improve vaccination coverage in the Region with respect to the EPI vaccines are not jeopardized;
- (e) In regard to the preceding subparagraph, the acquisition of additional funds from different sources be promoted to enable the countries of the Region to enjoy the benefits of the scientific advances worldwide in the field of prevention, without affecting the basic scheme;
- (f) Comprehensive care models for children be promoted to permit immunizations to be integrated as effectively as possible into growth and development activities, in order to decrease as much as possible the missed opportunities and promote systematic immunization in the network of services.
- 6. To request the Director:
- (a) To continue monitoring the maintenance of poliomyelitis eradication from the Americas until the world is certified polio-free;
- (b) To search for additional resources to increase the funds assigned to the Measles Elimination Fund established by the XXXVII Meeting of the Directing Council in 1993, in order to ensure that the national initiatives under way in several of the countries will have the support needed in order to consolidate present gains toward the elimination of this disease;
- (c) To stimulate increased participation by the collaborating agencies through the work of national interagency coordinating committees and the monitoring of national plans of action.

CSP24.R17 Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) in the Americas

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having reviewed the report on acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) in the Americas (Document CSP24/18 and Add. I);

Recalling Resolution WHA46.37 of May 1993 and its subsequent follow-up in May 1994, in which the World Health Assembly proposed and endorsed, respectively, the establishment of a joint, cosponsored United Nations Program on AIDS;

Considering that HIV transmission and the AIDS pandemic continue to grow globally and in the countries of the Region of the Americas, and that this situation requires a more intensive, long-term, effective, and sustainable intersectoral response;

Reaffirming that dealing with the intersectoral implications of AIDS is primarily a national responsibility in which all sectors must play their respective roles with the appropriate leadership of the health sector; and

Recognizing the continued need for joint, coordinated efforts involving all relevant sectors of society, as well as multilateral and bilateral technical and financial cooperation agencies, in the prevention of HIV infection, AIDS, and other sexually transmitted diseases at the national, regional, and global levels,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To endorse the implementation of the new joint, cosponsored United Nations Program on AIDS in the Region of the Americas, taking advantage of the existing regional structures of the participating agencies and respecting the sovereignty of the countries.
- 2. To urge the Governments to adopt, jointly with international health agencies, common strategies and messages on HIV/AIDS prevention.
- 3. To express its conviction that the technical responsibility lies with the health agencies at the national, regional, and global levels.
- 4. To urge the Member States to support, establish, or reinforce mechanisms to ensure effective national coordination of all national, multilateral, and bilateral efforts to fight HIV infection, AIDS, and sexually transmitted diseases in the countries of the Americas.

- 5. To request the Director:
- (a) To continue to support efforts to prevent and control HIV infection, AIDS, and sexually transmitted diseases in the Region of the Americas, and in particular, to prepare a proposal for a regional plan of action for the elimination of congenital syphilis to be presented to the Executive Committee at its 116th Meeting, for adoption by the Directing Council;
- (b) To continue to consult with the other agencies participating in the new joint cosponsored United Nations Program on AIDS about a reasonable balance among the principal health problems of the Region, developing a mutually acceptable means of implementing that program in the Americas Region, including the establishment of a coordinating mechanism that will assure the participation of other inter-American institutions and partners in the Region;
- (c) To prepare a proposal to develop programs to promote healthy sexual practices.

(Adopted at the ninth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

CSP24.R18 Joint PAHO/Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) Report on Health, Social Equity, and Changing Production Patterns in Latin America and the Caribbean

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE.

Having seen the PAHO/ECLAC report presented in Document CSP24/20, "Health, Social Equity, and Changing Production Patterns in Latin America and the Caribbean";

Recognizing the mutually reinforcing relationship between health, health care, and the socioeconomic and political development of the American countries; and

Taking into consideration the resolution adopted on this subject by the XXV Session of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean at Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, on 27 April 1994, which recommended to PAHO and ECLAC that this report be submitted to a Special Meeting of Ministers of Economy and Health to be held during the XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference,

RESOLVES:

- 1. To urge the Member States:
- (a) To disseminate this report and promote debate thereon among representatives of government agencies, parliaments, universities, and civil society in general with a view to strengthening national commitment to the attainment of equity in health and development;
- (b) To incorporate the basic elements of the PAHO/ECLAC proposal in agendas and policies on national development, so that health will be incorporated as both a focus and a condition for development with equity.
- 2. To encourage ongoing collaboration by the PAHO and ECLAC secretariats in the dissemination, refinement, and implementation of this proposal, particularly insofar as it refers to the monitoring, evaluation, and formulation of policy, and that efforts be made to extend this collaboration to other bilateral and multilateral organizations.
- 3. To ask the Director, within the limits of available resources, to support the implementation of this proposal by the Member States.

(Adopted at the tenth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

CSP24.R19 Monitoring and Evaluation of the Strategies of Health for All by the Year 2000

THE XXIV PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE,

Having examined the document presented by the Director on the monitoring and evaluation of the strategies of health for all by the year 2000 (Document CSP24/21); and

Considering the commitments assumed by the WHO Member States at the Forty-fifth World Health Assembly (Resolution WHA45.4, 1992) on the presentation of monitoring reports,

RESOLVES:

1. To approve the document presented by the Director and request him to submit it to WHO as the regional report on the third monitoring of progress in the application of the strategies of health for all by the year 2000 and primary health care.

- 2. To request WHO to conduct an exhaustive review of the instruments utilized in the monitoring and evaluation, and especially the process employed in the countries to implement the policies, plans, and programs consistent with the strategies of health for all and primary health care.
- 3. To urge the Member States of the Region to renew their commitment to the strategies of health for all by the year 2000 and primary health care, since they are the fundamental conceptual framework for improving the health situation in the countries and continue to be a proposal that is socially equitable, politically viable, technically feasible, and within the economic reach of the countries.

(Adopted at the tenth plenary session, 30 September 1994)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the President of the XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference and the Secretary *ex officio*, Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau, sign the present Final Report in the English and Spanish languages, both texts being equally authentic.

DONE in Washington, D.C., United States of America, on this thirtieth day of September, nineteen hundred and ninety-four. The Secretary shall deposit the original texts in the Archives of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau and shall send copies thereof to the Member Governments of the Organization.

Jesús Kumate Rodríguez
President of the
XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference
Delegate of Mexico

Carlyle Guerra de Macedo
Secretary ex officio of the
XXIV Pan American Sanitary Conference
Director of the
Pan American Sanitary Bureau